Supreme Court No. S 232754

2nd Civil No. B 247672 LASC Case No. BC VC059206

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAM JAE KIM, et al.) Case No. S 232754
Plaintiffs and Appellants,)))
vs.	SUPREME COURT FILED
TOYOTA MOTOR CORPORATION, et al.,	JUN - 6 2016
Defendants and Respondents.	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
	Deputy
From a Decision of the Court of Appeal – D [2 nd Civil No. B	vivision Seven (CR

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Los Angeles County Superior Court Hon. Raul A. Sahagan, Judge Presiding [LASC Case No. VC 059206]

1. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Pursuant to the Court's order of May 11, 2016, the issue to be briefed is:

Did the trial court commit reversible error in admitting, as relevant to the risk/benefit test for design defect, evidence of industry custom and practice related to the alleged defect?

2. INTRODUCTION

Almost since the inception of strict products liability, the decisions have recognized that evidence of customary industry practice is inappropriate since it shifts the jury's attention away from the objective features of the product and the relative benefits of alternative designs towards the manufacturer's behavior, and hence a negligence standard: *i.e.*, the product must be safe because "everybody in the industry does it." The effect is not just to divert juror attention from risk/benefit factors, but to undermine product improvement by ratifying designs that are "no worse" than what others are selling, and to undermine the burdenshifting function of product liability doctrine.

A few cases seem to have departed from this strict rule, suggesting that a defendant's reliance on industry custom and practice is a legitimate consideration in risk-benefit cases. The *Kim* Opinion attempts to reconcile the cases by a "middle ground" which jettisons the heretofore strict preclusion of "reasonable manufacturer" evidence in favor of a "discretionary" standard which, judging by the Opinion, allows such evidence whenever it is arguably the result of industry research and experience – in other words, almost anytime.

このでは、このは変がを変した。 ころしてを

This new standard, and the *Kim* Opinion's view that the evidentiary divide between negligence and strict liability actions is outmoded, rests in part on confusion between industry custom – the equivalent of "standard of care" evidence – and evidence of established technical standards or of specific instances involving alternative designs whose success or failure might demonstrate feasibility or refute claims of cost-effectiveness. These latter instances represent direct evidence of true *Barker*¹ factors, and can most usefully be shown without regard to industry custom. The *Kim* Opinion thus seeds confusion and undermines burden-shifting and safety enhancement for a completely illusory benefit.

3. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents a classic example of the ordinary driver who, faced with a sudden threat, tries to maneuver his vehicle back to the intended direction of travel. Since the 1990s, the automotive industry has had the technology to assist drivers by correcting over-steer and under-steer (*i.e.*, vehicle failure to respond as expected to steering input) and traction slippage. That technology, known as Electronic Stability Control (ESC) or Vehicle Stability Control (VSC) – was standard on many vehicles by the late 1990's or early 2000's, and was ultimately made mandatory by federal regulation on all vehicles under 10,000 pounds. It was absent from Mr. Kim's truck because it had been only an option in his model year, although it was the most important safety innovation in decades.

The verdict in this case turned exclusively on the issue of defect, and the core of Toyota's argument was not that the absence of ESC was justified by technical concerns or cost-effectiveness, but that every other light truck lacked such stability control, and hence Kim's Tundra must have been safe even without

Barker v. Lull Engineering Co. (1978) 20 Cal.3d 413.

the technology most certain to have avoided this accident.

A. The Accident

William Kim was returning home north on Angeles Forest Highway when he was forced by an on-coming vehicle into an evasive right swerve, causing his two right side tires to enter the gravel shoulder. He steered to the left to regain the roadway led to a series of oscillations resulting in his 2005 Tundra pickup leaving the highway and rolling 75 feet down a canyon, rendering him quadriplegic.

Kim had purchased the Tundra because it was the last year of that model line so he figured that Toyota had any recall issues worked out and the price would be good. (RT 2752-2753) He was influenced by Toyota's advertising that it produced-top quality vehicles, but knew nothing about ESC. (RT 2752-2753) The salesman told him nothing about safety features, and he learned of ESC only post-accident. (RT 2753) Kim used the Tundra in his construction/property rehab business. (RT 2754)

On April 20, 2010, Kim was returning home to Palmdale from Montebello, a route he took about every other day, with only some supplies in the truck. (RT 2755) It was just starting to sprinkle. (RT 2758) As he descended Angelus Forest Highway just before 6 p.m., Kim saw an on-coming blue SUV about a quarter of the way into his lane: he reacted by steering right then, feeling the right wheels were on the gravel edge, steered leftward back onto the lane, thinking he had just barely avoided collision. (RT 2756; 3912-3914) Kim recalled fighting the wheel to get back into his lane, then starting to panic as the Tundra didn't respond. (RT 2757) Reentering the roadway by a right steer just as it entered a curve, the Tundra began to lose traction, turning too far left and the rear sliding out. (RT

Both the CHP Officer who interviewed him in the hospital (RT 2106) and Kim's surgeon (RT 2535) confirmed that Kim had reported swerving to evade a car or SUV which had crossed the center line.

Fiona Archer and her husband Anthony were traveling south – uphill – toward Sunland when she noticed the Tundra coming around a bend, apparently out of control "because the back end of his vehicle came across the line" in a clockwise motion (RT 1537-1539) The rear of the truck was over the line just slightly (RT 1539:20-25), and was at a distance of six or seven car lengths when she first saw it. (RT 1539:26-1540:1) Because the truck's driver seemed to straighten out and regain control, Mrs. Archer didn't have to break or swerve. (RT 1540-1542) But looking in her rearview mirror, she saw the truck airborne as it went off the highway and over the cliff – for no apparent reason. She was shocked because the skid had not looked big and Kim seemed to have regained control as he passed. (RT 1543:3-25)

Mrs. Archer said that the road was damp in places and there was a rivulet of water trickling off the rocks in a cut-away in the mountainside. (RT 1544:1-23) She was traveling 30 to 35 mph entering the curve (RT 1546–1547) and thought Kim was going about 50. (RT 1547:17-21)

Anthony Archer testified the Archers were traveling 35 to 40 mph and that Kim's truck was three car lengths away when he first saw it. (RT 1590-1591) He had observed many cars coming around the bend do "a bit of a drift" but then straighten out; Kim also drifted a bit, but then his rear end began to come around clockwise. In what Archer described as an over-correction, it then turned counter-

clockwise, with the rear in front, and went into an uncontrolled spin. (RT 1591-1593) Archer told the CHP that it appeared that Kim had overcorrected or corrected too quickly, and spun out of control in an effort to bring the truck out of the turning motion. (RT 1595-1597) From the time he first saw it until Kim passed him, the truck had stayed on Kim's side of the road. (RT 1595)

Archer had seen a series of other vehicles pass by this location traveling northbound very fast, like "a bunch of race cars," and about three of seven cars did a slight wiggle or drift. (RT 1598–1600) All had the same sort of slippage and then straightened out, whereas Kim wiggled a bit, straightened out, but then went the other way, counter-clockwise. (RT 1600:1-23) When he returned to the accident site, Archer saw a number of other cars start to slip at the accident curve. (RT 1611:2-27) Archer thought that Kim was going about 50 mph when he left the road. (RT 1612-1613)

Edgar Fuentes stopped at the accident scene. (RT 3646) Fuentes saw gravel and a "little bit" of running water in the roadway: "not a lot" of water, not even a stream. (RT 3656:27-3657:2; 3658:9-19) Fuentes' car had "kind of skidded" about three curves before on conditions that were not optimal (RT 3647-3648, 3651, 3657, 3659) so he reduced his speed of 45 mph after the curve. (RT 3655-3656)

The CHP officer who first responded to the scene (RT 1575-1576) found just a trickle of water across the roadway south of the curve; he reported it was not a hazard. (RT 1578) He had been patrolling this area since 2003, but knew of no other loss of control incident at the accident location, though cars often went through at 55 mph plus. (RT 1583–1584)

Accident investigation Officer Ann Marie Strachan concluded from skid

marks that the Tundra had spun around and gone off the cliff right-rear wheel first, with the truck facing south-west, the opposite direction of Kim's travel. (RT 1678-1679) She found no evidence of violations pertaining to the truck tires. (RT 1803)

Strachan believed that Kim was going 45 to 50 mph, and that when he tried to negotiate the right-hand curve, the rear of the Tundra skidded to the outside of the curve; he tried to correct by steering hard to the left, at which point he lost control. The truck spun around counter-clockwise and skid off the roadway edge, striking a dirt embankment which deflated the right tires and knocked off the right wheel rims. (RT 1804-1805) The Tundra rolled onto its roof as it went down the embankment, coming to rest on its wheels. (RT 1805) Strachan thought Kim's turning movement contributed to the loss of control. (RT 1805:16-21)

B. Plaintiff's Expert Testimony

Plaintiff's reconstruction expert Steven Meyer calculated Kim's speed at the point of the earliest tire marks at 42 mph (RT 1838), making his speed around the curve – where he experienced a clock-wise yaw – a few miles faster. (RT 1838-1839) The initial roadway "yaw marks" indicated the tires were still rotating (by contrast with skid marks left by locked tires), signifying the counter-clockwise yaw. (RT 1838-1839) The marks then went in the other direction, showing a counter-clockwise yaw resulting from Kim's steering maneuvers. (RT 1843)

The Archer's description of the initial clockwise yaw was consistent with these marks (RT 1840:4-1841:4), and with Kim effectively catching the first clockwise yaw as he came around the corner by turning the wheel into the slide, straightening out as the Archers testified. Kim's turn to the left reversed the yaw into a counter-clockwise motion, allowing him to safely pass the Archers,

apparently having straightened out the initial yaw. (RT 1844-1845) As he passed the Archers, the yaw reversed and Kim went off to the left. (RT 1845:14-19)

Vehicle speeds, locations and visibility corroborated the conclusion that the Archers had first observed Kim as he steered the Tundra out of the first yaw, apparently with his direction corrected, and that the counter-clockwise motion began only when he passed the Archers, explaining their surprise when they saw Kim go off the road behind them. (RT 1854-1855, 1860-1862)

Meyer examined the truck tires and found them all of the same size and appropriate to the Tundra, though different brands and tread patterns. Tread depth on the front tires was 3/32 to 5/32, and on the rear 6/32 to 10/32 of an inch. (RT 1857-1858) Toyota's manual recommended replacement when tires got to 2/32, and Meyer found no indication the tires made any difference. (RT 1857, 1859)

Engineer Michael Gilbert had worked in automotive dynamics for over 20 years, publishing on vehicle design and dynamics, and roll-over and limits maneuver testing, and taught driving. (RT 2110-2123) Gilbert described ESC as a system to correct for driver error in extraordinary maneuvers. ESC senses, for example, when tires start slipping or when the vehicle is in over-steer (*e.g.* fishtailing) and corrects vehicle movement to align it in situations which are counter-intuitive or beyond the capacity of the driver. In the instant case, when the back end started coming out, ESC would have detected the motion within hundredths of a second, before the driver noticed, and put brake input into the wheels to keep the back-end from sliding out, then readjusting according to the yaw rate. (RT 2124-2125) Once the truck was back in alignment, ESC would release the brake pressure and the vehicle would proceed straight as the driver expected. (RT 2125-2126) Similarly, on wet pavement, ESC detects the slippage of front tires and

adjusts rear braking to eliminate over-steer and improve cornering. (RT 2133-2134; 2141) Because ESC takes into account both vehicle movement and driver input, it adjusts vehicle direction according to the driver's intent. (RT 2141-2142)

The instant accident presented the typical scenario in which the driver's reaction lags behind the vehicle movement. A driver who needs to steer into the slide will input too much steer by the time the rear end comes around, causing it to swing around in the other direction, as happened with Kim. ESC instantly adjusts to the driver's overreaction and calculates how fast the rear is coming back before rear tires begin slipping, so that the driver doesn't have to overcompensate and can keep the car aligned with fewer steering maneuvers. (RT 2126–2129)

ESC practically eliminated spins in some vehicles and speed ranges (RT 2129-2130) and reduced single vehicle accident anywhere from 30% for passenger vehicles to 88% for passenger trucks. (RT 2130:13-2131:5)

Gilbert opined that this accident would not have happened had the Tundra been equipped with ESC. (RT 2146) ESC would have cut in to brake the right front tire when slippage began as Kim tried to steer back to the road. (RT 2154-2156) By slipping tire contact with the road slightly, ESC would have kept the vehicle straight, kept the back-end from coming around, and eliminated the need for the third and fourth steering maneuvers. (RT 2156)

The evidence supported the conclusion that Kim had encountered another vehicle, leading to an evasive maneuver and a series of steering inputs before he came into the Archers' view. (RT 2148) This was evident from the Archers' view of the Tundra's rear coming around as it rounded the curve, indicative of a prior emergency avoidance. (RT 2148-2149) Of Kim's four steering movements, the

Archers had seen the third, a right corrective steer which resulted in a clockwise movement, and the last was the left corrective steer before the truck left the road. (RT 2149-2150) This was corroborated by tire abrasions showing a hard clockwise slip where Kim steered hard to the right, leading to the rear slip (RT 2161-2166), and by yaw marks where multiple steering maneuvers nearly brought Kim out of the skid, until the last steer which ESC would have made unnecessary. (RT 2167-2168)

Gilbert testified that the two wet areas described by witnesses were insufficient to have caused loss of control or create a disturbance to the truck; the water was too far down the road to explain the motion seen by the Archers or to have caused slippage by the time they saw Kim. (RT 2138-2139, 2150-2151) Only a large amount of water would have affected the Tundra's control (RT 2152), and the absence of an accident history for the curve indicated there was no drainage issue. (RT 2153-2157) Nothing in the environment would have defeated a properly functioning ESC system. (RT 2157-2160)

Test runs of a Tundra on a wet surface showed it able to corner on the same radius at up to 64 mph without loss of control, making it likely that Kim had lost control because of an earlier evasive maneuver, not because he was cornering too fast. (RT 2162-2173) Toyota's own testing had achieved loss of control only by flooding the test surface (RT 2170, 2173), and even then the truck often didn't slip with ESC, but required the driver to make a number of different steers. (RT 2173)

Yiannis Papelis, Ph.D., a Professor of Computer Engineering (RT 2462-2463), spent 18 years researching driver behavior and interaction with automotive systems such as anti-lock braking, collision warning, and ESC. (RT 2463-2480) Papelis has led research projects studying the effectiveness of ESC and the

response of hundreds of drivers with and without ESC. (RT 2480-2485) His findings on the effectiveness of ESC were referenced by the Department of Transportation in its notice of proposed rule making that now requires ESC on all vehicles weighting less than 10,000 pounds. (RT 2508, 2719-2720)

Based on the accident site, witness depositions, accident conditions and environment, the accident scenario was very close to that experienced in simulation and reconstruction research (RT 2480-2486) – exactly the kind of loss of control ESC was signed to prevent. (RT 2486-2488) Papelis found that the traces of water would not have made the truck slip out of control or interfered with ESC, which is "perfectly capable of working on the wet pavement." (RT 2488-2489) The evidence indicated that some event before the Archers' first observation of Kim had caused his sudden steering, and like drivers studied in simulations, he had over-reacted in steering back to the left. (RT 2491-2493) This was typical where, after an initial sudden stimulus, a second steer to regain the road comes too late, and as the number of steers increases the vehicle oscillates. (RT 2504-2506; 2726)

Papelis found sufficient traction for ESC to work (RT 2494-2496), and wet pavement studies had show the effectiveness of ESC in such conditions. (RT 2484-2485) He noted that Toyota's expert Carr couldn't make the Tundra spin on very wet pavement, indicating that it had good traction even with much more water. (RT 2494-2495)

Automotive engineer Murat Okcuoglu (RT 3421) testified that there was a working ESC system by 1993, and by 2000 the technology was fully mature and well understood. (RT 3423) For a company like Toyota, the incremental cost of putting ESC on the Tundra was \$300 to \$350 per vehicle. (RT 3424)

C. Toyota Engineering and Marketing

The defense case was devoted almost entirely to causation, not defect.

Toyota's PMK on stability control, Project Manager Akira Nagae (RT 307-3008; App. 827-828, 831), worked on development of ESC for cars and trucks from 1997 to 2003, having oversight for the 2004 and 2005 model Tundra by the time he left. (App. 828-830) Development was complete for the 2004 model (App. 830), with work to adjust to a new engine and brake actuator for the 2005 model complete by August 2004 when it was put on the market. (App. 830) ESC was first put on a Toyota for the Japanese market in 1995. (App. 841)

Nagae said ESC was designed to suppress side sliding and thereby support driver steering efforts so that the vehicle would go in a direction of the driver's input in unstable conditions (App. 831), so that "even the average driver would be able to handle the vehicle appropriately" to recover its path. (App. 835-836) Using sensors that measure yaw rate, wheel speed and steering angle, ESC intervenes when there is excessive slide, updating every 24 milliseconds or so and applying brake pressure in 1/10 or 2/10 of a second. (App. 837) ESC would work where tires were within legal tread depth, absent hydroplaning. (App. 837-838)

A Toyota study reported that ESC eliminated spin-outs and vastly reduced drift where drivers entered a curve at a speed beyond their driving ability, and was "obviously effective for ordinary drivers" in preventing spinning. (App. 841-842) It also found ESC effective in sudden movements or cornering in slippery road conditions (App. 842-843), with a 70% reduction in serious single car accidents. (App. 844) Toyota had promoted ESC on the Sequoia SUV as offering cornering stability where there was poor traction, dirt or pooled water on the road, or when

too much steering input was applied. (App. 844)

Nagae could identify no benefit from not having ESC on the 2005 Tundra (App. 845-846); the "consensus" decision to make it optional was based on market conditions, user demand, and the trend in competitors' vehicles. (App. 847)

Sandy Lobenstein, Corporate Manager for Product Planning with Toyota Motor Sales USA (RT 3304-3305) testified that Toyota had ESC on the Lexus in the 1990's. As of 2001 it was on the Sequoia and 4Runner SUVs as standard equipment. It was standard in the Highlander SUV in 2004, and in the FJ Cruiser SUV in 2007. (RT 3307-3309)

ESC was optional in the Tundra for 2004 to 2006 models (RT 3309-3311), and became standard when the second generation Tundra appeared in 2007. (RT 3366) With the 2005 model, ESC was an option available only as part of a package which included traction control, brake assist, daytime running lights and limited slip differential, which retailed at \$950. (RT 3369-3370; App. 938)

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