Case No. S232754

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAM JAE KIM, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

TOYOTA MOTOR CORPORATION, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Second District Court of Appeal No. B247672
Los Angeles County Superior Court
The Honorable Raul A. Sahagun
Civil Case No. VC059206

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 27 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Patrick Rogan (SBN 54428)
pat@patrickroganlaw.com
20406 Seaboard Rd.
Malibu, CA 90265
Telephone: +1.310.795.5214

David P. Stone
Admitted pro hac vice
david.stone@bowmanandbrooke.com
BOWMAN AND BROOKE LLP
2501 North Harwood, Suite 1700
Dallas, TX 75201
Telephone: +1.972.616.1700

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

III. ARGUMENT

The industry-custom-and-practice evidence here is Lobenstein’s testimony that no competing pickup manufacturer offered ESC in 2005. *See* Op.-19-25; OB-16-18, 41-42 (complaining that Toyota supposedly emphasized that no competing pickup manufacturer offered ESC). There was no reversible error in admitting this evidence.

A. Plaintiffs’ Objection Is Not Preserved.

To preserve an evidentiary objection, a party must file an objection or motion that was “timely made” and “so stated as to make clear the

specific ground of the objection or motion.” § 353(a). Plaintiffs did not meet these requirements, and invited any error by introducing the evidence themselves.

1. **Plaintiffs’ Remedy, If Any, Was A Limiting Instruction.**

Plaintiffs’ failure to request a limiting instruction means they have no error to review. As the Court of Appeal explained, plaintiffs had acknowledged that admissibility depended on the purpose for which it was offered. Op.-24. For example, they said the jury could consider the evidence for one purpose (considering whether Toyota “ignore[d] the benefit” of ESC “because their competitors didn’t do it”) but not for another purpose (showing the Tundra was not defective because competitors did not have ESC). RT-II-310-11.

In this situation, the trial court is required to admit the evidence and give a limiting instruction if requested. “The rule is well settled that if evidence is admissible for any purpose it must be received, even though it may be highly improper for another purpose.” *Daggett v. Atchison, T. & S. F. Ry. Co.* (1957) 48 Cal.2d 655, 665; *People v. Bryant* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 335, 405, as modified on denial of reh’g (Oct. 1, 2014), cert. denied (2015) 135 S. Ct. 1841. Such evidence is limited to its proper scope by requesting a limiting instruction. § 355 (“When evidence is admissible ... for one purpose and is inadmissible ... for another purpose, the court upon request

shall restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury accordingly.”); *Daggett*, 48 Cal.2d at 665-66. The trial court has no duty to give a limiting instruction *sua sponte*. *People v. Hernandez* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1040, 1051.

This rule follows directly from the Evidence Code. To be relevant, evidence need only tend to prove or disprove any disputed fact of consequence. § 210. If evidence is relevant to prove “any” disputed fact of consequence, it is admissible except as provided by statute. § 351. No statute says evidence admissible for one purpose but not another is inadmissible. Instead, the statute says the court shall give a limiting instruction upon request. § 355.

Under *Daggett* and § 351, the trial court properly admitted evidence that no competing pickup had ESC, given plaintiffs’ acknowledgment that the jury could properly consider such evidence for at least one purpose. To try to prevent the evidence from being used to show that the Tundra was not defective, plaintiffs had to request a limiting instruction under § 355. They never did.

Plaintiffs offer three excuses, all incorrect: (1) industry custom evidence was not relevant to any issues, (2) plaintiffs would have had to propose a limiting instruction based on the “middle ground” announced in the Court of Appeal Opinion, which was impossible to anticipate, and (3) “the court would not have given” one. OB-44-46.

First, “industry custom,” as plaintiffs define it, is concededly *admissible* for some purposes. Plaintiffs define “industry custom” as “everybody does it” or “nobody does it.” OB-28. Evidence that “their competitors didn’t do it” (nobody does it) is industry custom under plaintiffs’ definition. Plaintiffs acknowledged the jury could consider this evidence under the risk/benefit test in connection with their argument. RT-II-311. Thus this remains a case of evidence that is concededly admissible for one purpose, but assertedly inadmissible for a different purpose. Further, “[e]vidence” is testimony, documents or something else presented to the senses, offered to prove or disprove a fact. § 140. The *evidence* here is testimony that no competitor offered ESC. “Industry custom” is a description of the evidence; it is not the evidence. Plaintiffs acknowledged the *evidence* was relevant for at least one purpose.

Second, plaintiffs did not have to anticipate the Court of Appeal’s opinion. Since the evidence could be considered for at least one purpose, its admissibility and the need to request a limiting instruction flowed directly from *Daggett* and sections 210, 351, and 355. This case is nothing like *People v. Kitchens* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 260, 264 or *People v. Nigri* (1965) 232 Cal.App.2d 348, where post-trial opinions overturned long-established law.

Third, plaintiffs’ assertion that “the court would not have given” a limiting instruction is baseless. This argument could only succeed if it

would have been a “fruitless or an idle act” to propose an instruction. *See City of Long Beach v. Farmers & Merchants Bank of Long Beach* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 780, 784-85. That is not this case. The trial court *specifically invited* plaintiffs to propose a limiting instruction, saying “I’ll certainly review it and we’ll litigate that instruction at the appropriate time.” RT-II-312.

2. **Plaintiffs Introduced The Evidence That No Other Pickups Had ESC Standard.**

Introducing evidence waives objection to it. “If a party introduces inadmissible evidence over objection, and later the opposing party offers the same kind of evidence, the opposing party waives the prior objection and loses the right to complain of error.” 3 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (5th ed. 2012) § 385(3); *e.g., Romeo v. Jumbo Market* (1967) 247 Cal.App.2d 817, 823 (plaintiff waived prior objection by later introducing evidence “contain[ing] the same objectionable material”); *Heiman v. Market St. Ry. Co.* (1937) 21 Cal.App.2d 311, 315-16 (plaintiff waived prior objection by causing the evidence to be exhibited again to the jury); *Ganiats Const., Inc. v. Hesse* (1960) 180 Cal.App.2d 377, 389-90.

This is an *a fortiori* case: plaintiffs introduced the evidence before Toyota did. Even if plaintiffs’ motion in limine were otherwise sufficient, they waived any objection by introducing the evidence.

Trying to avoid this conclusion, plaintiffs say what they introduced

is “not ‘industry custom’ evidence” because it “had nothing to do with design criteria.” OB-49. That assertion fails. First, the evidence they introduced was exactly the evidence their motion in limine sought to exclude: “evidence or testimony comparing the Toyota Tundra to competitor’s vehicles and designs.” AA-I-84. Again, the *evidence* here is testimony that no competitor offered ESC. § 140. What matters is whether they introduced the evidence they objected to, not whether “industry custom” aptly describes that evidence.

Second, the evidence is industry custom even under plaintiffs’ definition. Plaintiffs purportedly define “industry custom” as evidence that “everybody does it” or “nobody does it.” OB-28. That no competitor offered ESC meant “nobody does it.”

Third, the evidence plaintiffs introduced does concern design criteria. Plaintiffs introduced it to show Toyota’s *reason for the no-ESC design* was that competitors did not have ESC. Part II.C.2 above.

Plaintiffs did not introduce the evidence to lessen the impact of the denial of their motion. *Before* the court denied the motion, plaintiffs said the jury could consider “under the risk benefit doctrine” that Toyota did not make ESC standard “because their competitors didn’t,” and repeated that Toyota made ESC standard on SUVs but not on pickups “because their competitors didn’t” RT-II-310-11.

3. Plaintiffs' Motion In Limine Did Not Preserve The Objection.

“Generally when an in limine ruling that evidence is admissible has been made, the party seeking exclusion must object at such time as the evidence is actually offered to preserve the issue for appeal.” *People v. Jennings* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 963, 975, fn.3. A motion in limine preserves an objection for appeal only if: “(1) a specific legal ground for exclusion is advanced and subsequently raised on appeal; (2) the motion is directed to a particular, identifiable body of evidence; and (3) the motion is made at a time before or during trial when the trial judge can determine the evidentiary question in its appropriate context.” *People v. Lucas* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 153, 220, fn.29 (quoting *People v. Morris* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 152, 190); *Boeken v. Philip Morris Inc.* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1640, 1675. Plaintiffs' motion in limine fails (3).

Plaintiffs' motion was made pretrial. AA I-84-92. The evidence they objected to was relevant to issues raised at trial and not addressed in plaintiffs' motion – including causation, plaintiffs' theory that Toyota did not install ESC because competitors did not, to rebut plaintiffs' assertion that Toyota's use of ESC on SUVs meant Toyota knew it was needed on pickups, and to corroborate Toyota's evidence that consumers did not want ESC and so the phase-in was desirable and timely. Part III.B below; *see* Op.-18-19. Thus, the motion was not made at a time the judge could rule

on the evidence in its appropriate context.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Admitting The Evidence.

As illustrated by this case, the Court of Appeal correctly held custom-and-practice evidence may be admissible depending on its nature and purpose and subject to the trial court's discretion under § 352. Op.-16-17. This rule follows directly from the Evidence Code. Evidence is relevant if it tends to prove or disprove "any" fact of consequence to determination of the action. § 210. The evidence here does. Once relevant, it is admissible except as provided by statute. § 351. The only potential exclusionary statute is § 352, which commits discretion to the trial court, and which did not require exclusion here. If the evidence is inadmissible for some other purpose, the trial court must normally admit it and give a limiting instruction upon request. *Daggett*, 48 Cal.2d at 665-66; § 355. Here, straightforward application of the Evidence Code makes clear that the no-competing-pickups-had-ESC evidence was admissible.

1. The Evidence Was Relevant.

The trial court has "broad discretion to determine the relevance of evidence...." *Coffey v. Shiimoto* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 1198, 1213 (quoting *People v. Jones* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 899, 947). "[W]e will not disturb the court's exercise of that discretion unless it acted in an arbitrary, capricious or patently absurd manner." *Ibid.*

Relevant evidence is evidence “having any tendency in reason to prove or disprove any disputed fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action,” including evidence “relevant to the credibility of a witness.” § 210. “The test of relevance is whether the evidence tends, ‘logically, naturally, and by reasonable inference’ to establish material facts....” *Coffey*, 60 Cal.4th at 1213 (citation omitted). Evidence is relevant not only when it tends to establish an ultimate fact, but also when it tends to establish an intermediate fact from which an ultimate fact can be inferred. *People v. Hill* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 959, 987; 1 Jefferson, Cal. Evidence Benchbook (4th ed. 2016) [“Jefferson”] § 21.16, p. 21-13-14, § 21.21, p. 21-15-16.

Here, the “evidence” (§ 140) was Lobenstein’s testimony that no other full-sized 2005 pickup offered ESC. As detailed next, it tended to prove or disprove disputed facts of consequence to both plaintiffs’ claim and Toyota’s defenses.

a. **The Evidence Was Relevant Under The Risk/Benefit Test.**

Under the risk/benefit test, the jury evaluates the design’s risks and benefits to determine whether the design embodies “excessive preventable danger.” *Soule v. General Motors Corp.* (1992) 8 Cal.4th 548, 562; *Barker v. Lull Engineering Co.* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 413, 430.

The risk/benefit test has two parts: causation and risk/benefit

balancing. The product is “found defective in design if [1] the plaintiff demonstrates that the product’s design proximately caused his injury and [2] the defendant fails to establish, in light of the relevant factors, that, on balance, the benefits of the challenged design outweigh the risk of danger inherent in such design.” *Barker*, 20 Cal.3d at 432. Under the balancing prong, “[a] jury may consider, among other relevant factors, the gravity of the danger posed by the challenged design, the likelihood that such danger would occur, the mechanical feasibility of a safer alternative design, the financial cost of an improved design, and the adverse consequences to the product and to the consumer that would result from an alternative design.” *Id.* at 431. The jury was so instructed here, using the substantial-factor test for causation. RT-X-4242-43 (risk/benefit instruction).

The no-other-pickups-had-ESC evidence was relevant to both causation and risk/benefit weighing.

(1) The Evidence Was Relevant To Causation.

In the past decade, there had been only one other accident on the curve where Kim crashed; that was on snow or ice. RT-IX-3610-11. That no other 2005-or-earlier pickups had ESC meant non-ESC pickups had uniformly traveled this curve for many years without a problem. Knowing that non-ESC pickups had long traveled this curve without incident, and that Kim crashed while when he was speeding down a wet gravelly road on

marginal tires, a reasonable juror might infer that Kim's crash was not attributable to absence of ESC. *See* RT 4240 (substantial factor "is a factor that a reasonable person consider [sic] to have attributed to the harm").

If liability were found, similar reasoning tended to reduce comparative fault allocated to the design and increase the fault allocated to Kim's negligent driving. *See* RT-X-4243 (comparative-fault instruction).

(2) The Evidence Was Relevant To Risk/Benefit Balance.

The evidence was also relevant to the risk/benefit balance.

Relevance to plaintiffs' theory. Evidence that competitors did not have ESC was obviously relevant to plaintiffs' theory that Toyota did not make ESC standard because competitors did not. As the Court of Appeal explained, plaintiffs' questions to Lobenstein "were designed to show that Toyota was making VSC optional on its trucks, rather than standard as the engineers had suggested, because Toyota's competitors were not making VSC standard." Op.-22-23. This was "a proper line of questioning designed to show the jury that Toyota was ignoring the advice of its engineers and putting profit over safety, and illustrates how the plaintiff in a products liability case can properly introduce evidence of industry custom or practice." Op.-23

Plaintiffs nowhere dispute this reasoning. Their excuse that they introduced the evidence only after the trial court had denied their motion in

limine (OB-49) cannot be squared with the record; they told the trial court the jury could consider the evidence for this purpose *before* the court denied the motion. Part II.C.1 above.

In Evidence Code terms, the no-competitor-offered-ESC evidence tended in reason to prove a disputed fact of consequence to determination of the action: plaintiffs' assertion that Toyota did not install ESC because competitors did not. Because it tended to prove "any disputed fact" of consequence, it was relevant. § 210.

Relevance to consumer utility and financial cost of ESC. That no competing pickup manufacturer offered ESC tended to confirm Lobenstein's testimony that the overwhelming majority of consumers did not want ESC, they were very price-sensitive, and the evidence ESC would add hundreds of dollars. All of this went to risk/benefit, and to whether the benefits of making ESC optional outweighed the risks. Financial cost of the alternative design (here ESC) and the adverse consequences to the product and the consumer are *Barker* factors. *See Bell v. Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft* (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1108, 1131 (adverse consequences to product include design's effect on product's "perceived benefit" to customers).

Further, this fact was disputed. Plaintiffs told the jury Toyota's evidence that the technology wasn't mature and customers didn't like it was "not to be believed" because Toyota had installed ESC on SUVs. RT-II-

1238. Toyota also contended plaintiffs' witness did not know ESC's cost.
RT-VIII-3421-24, X-4326-27.

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